Reis, Inc. Form 10-Q April 30, 2015 Table of Contents

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2015

or

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from_____to_____.

Commission File Number 001-12917

REIS, INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Maryland

(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization) **13-3926898** (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

10036

(Zip Code)

530 Fifth Avenue, New York, NY (Address of Principal Executive Offices)

(212) 921-1122

(Registrant s Telephone Number, Including Area Code)

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes b No⁻⁻

Table of Contents

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate website, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes $b = No^{-1}$

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer "Accelerated filer b Non-accelerated filer " Smaller reporting company " (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes "No b

The number of the Registrant s shares of common stock outstanding was 11,228,905 as of April 27, 2015.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
Number

31

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION:

Item 1. Financial Statements

Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2015 (unaudited) and December 31, 2014	3
Consolidated Statements of Operations (unaudited) For the Three Months Ended March 31,	
<u>2015 and 2014</u>	4
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders Equity (unaudited) For the Three	
Months Ended March 31, 2015	5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited) For the Three Months Ended March 31,	
<u>2015 and 2014</u>	6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)	7
Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	18
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	31

Item 4. <u>Controls and Procedures</u>

Item 2. Item 3.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION:

Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	31
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	31
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	31
Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	32
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	32
Item 5.	Other Information	32
Item 6.	Exhibits	32
Signatures	2	33

Part I. Financial Information

Item 1. Financial Statements.

REIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

		March 31, 2015 Unaudited)	D	ecember 31, 2014
ASSETS				
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	21,366,162	\$	17,745,077
Restricted cash and investments		212,756		212,625
Accounts receivable, net		5,772,020		12,627,063
Prepaid and other assets		3,675,274		4,164,320
Assets attributable to discontinued operations		3,500		3,500
Total current assets		31,029,712		34,752,585
Furniture, fixtures and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of \$2,219,319 and \$2,158,647, respectively		802 260		850,866
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of \$34,810,936 and		803,360		830,800
\$33,589,746, respectively		14,542,409		14,681,410
Deferred tax asset, non-current portion, net		14,342,409		18,638,737
Goodwill		54,824,648		54,824,648
Other assets		118,366		139,797
Other assets		110,500		139,191
Total assets	\$	120,254,232	\$	123,888,043
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY				
Current liabilities:	*		*	
Current portion of debt	\$		\$	
Accrued expenses and other liabilities		2,577,188		4,170,687
Deferred revenue		21,316,781		22,885,287
Liabilities attributable to discontinued operations		344,038		299,025
Total current liabilities		24,238,007		27,354,999
Other long-term liabilities		374,919		419,638
Total liabilities		24,612,926		27,774,637
Commitments and contingencies				
Commitments and contingencies Stockholders equity:				
Stockholders equity.		224,578		223,131
		224,378		223,131

Common stock, \$0.02 par value per share, 101,000,000 shares authorized,		
11,228,905 and 11,156,571 shares issued and outstanding, respectively		
Additional paid in capital	105,491,879	105,605,803
Retained earnings (deficit)	(10,075,151)	(9,715,528)
Total stockholders equity	95,641,306	96,113,406
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 120,254,232	\$ 123,888,043

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

REIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)

	For the Three Months Ended March 31,				
		2015		2014	
Subscription revenue	\$	11,130,778	\$	9,946,045	
Cost of sales of subscription revenue		2,185,440		1,916,345	
Gross profit		8,945,338		8,029,700	
Operating expenses:					
Sales and marketing		2,653,014		2,552,020	
Product development		862,754		763,103	
General and administrative expenses		3,321,076		3,037,442	
Total operating expenses		6,836,844		6,352,565	
Other income (expenses):					
Interest and other income		7,089		3,058	
Interest expense		(28,213)		(28,213)	
Total other income (expenses)		(21,124)		(25,155)	
Income before income taxes and discontinued operations		2,087,370		1,651,980	
Income tax expense		794,000		605,000	
Income from continuing operations		1,293,370		1,046,980	
(Loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax (benefit) of $(47,000)$ and $(235,000)$, respectively		(71,354)		(377,878)	
Net income	\$	1,222,016	\$	669,102	
Per share amounts basic:					
Income from continuing operations	\$	0.12	\$	0.10	
Net income	\$	0.11	\$	0.06	
Per share amounts diluted:					
Income from continuing operations	\$	0.11	\$	0.09	
Net income	\$	0.10	\$	0.06	

Table of Contents

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:		
Basic	11,190,683	10,978,716
Diluted	11.692.564	11,463,330
Dividends declared per common share	\$ 0.14	\$
Dividends declared per common share	\$ 0.14	\$

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

REIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2015

(Unaudited)

	Common Shares Paid in					Retained Earnings	Total Stockholde				
	Shares Amount		Amount		s Amount		Capital		(Deficit)		Equity
Balance, January 1, 2015	11,156,571	\$	\$ 223,131		\$ 105,605,803		(9,715,528)	\$	96,113,406		
Shares issued for vested employee restricted stock units	64,834		1,297		(1,297)						
Shares issued for option											
exercises	7,500		150		56,100				56,250		
Stock based compensation,											
net					(168,727)				(168,727)		
Dividends							(1,581,639)		(1,581,639)		
Net income							1,222,016		1,222,016		
Balance, March 31, 2015	11,228,905	\$	224,578	\$	105,491,879	S	\$ (10,075,151)	\$	95,641,306		

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

REIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

	For the Three Months Ende March 31, 2015 2014			
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:				
Net income	\$	1,222,016	\$	669,102
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operating activities:				
Deferred tax provision		709,000		370,000
Depreciation		105,958		91,760
Amortization of intangible assets		1,221,190		1,153,077
Stock based compensation charges		446,244		447,969
Changes in assets and liabilities:				
Restricted cash and investments		(131)		(133)
Accounts receivable, net		6,855,043		6,262,413
Prepaid and other assets		(117,523)		575
Accrued expenses and other liabilities		(1,593,205)		(1,407,703)
Liability for option cancellations				(12,850)
Deferred revenue		(1,568,506)		(1,033,156)
Net cash provided by operating activities		7,280,086		6,541,054
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:				
Website and database development costs		(1,082,189)		(1,078,270)
Furniture, fixtures and equipment additions		(58,452)		(103,144)
Cash (used in) investing activities		(1,140,641)		(1,181,414)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:				
Dividends		(1,581,639)		
Proceeds from option exercises		56,250		
Payments for option cancellations and restricted stock units		(992,971)		(131,778)
Cash (used in) financing activities		(2,518,360)		(131,778)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		3,621,085		5,227,862
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period		17,745,077		10,559,899
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	\$	21,366,162	\$	15,787,761

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION:		
Cash paid during the period for interest	\$ 6,389	\$ 6,389
Cash paid during the period for income taxes	\$ 164,700	\$ 37,121
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND		
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:		
Disposal of fully depreciated furniture, fixtures and equipment	\$ 45,286	\$ 35,599
Shares issued for vested employee restricted stock units	\$ 1,297	\$ 2,893
Shares issued for settlement of vested director restricted stock units		\$ 811
	\$ 1,297	,

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

REIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

1. Organization and Business

Reis, Inc. is a Maryland corporation. Reis, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (Reis or the Company) provides commercial real estate market information and analytical tools to real estate professionals, through its Reis Services subsidiary. For disclosure and financial reporting purposes, this business is referred to as the Reis Services segment.

Reis Services

Reis Services, including its predecessors, was founded in 1980. Reis maintains a proprietary database containing detailed information on commercial properties in metropolitan markets and neighborhoods throughout the U.S. The database contains information on apartment, office, retail, warehouse/distribution, flex/research & development, self storage and seniors housing properties, and is used by real estate investors, lenders and other professionals to make informed buying, selling and financing decisions. In addition, Reis data is used by debt and equity investors to assess, quantify and manage the risks of default and loss associated with individual mortgages, properties, portfolios and real estate backed securities. Reis currently provides its information services to many of the nation s leading lending institutions, equity investors, brokers and appraisers.

The Company s product portfolio features: *Reis SE*, its flagship delivery platform aimed at larger and mid-sized enterprises; *ReisReports*, aimed at prosumers and smaller enterprises; and *Mobiuss Portfolio CRE*, or *Mobiuss*, aimed primarily at risk managers and credit administrators at banks and non-bank lending institutions. It is through these products that Reis provides online access to a proprietary database of commercial real estate information and analytical tools designed to facilitate debt and equity transactions as well as ongoing asset and portfolio evaluations. Depending on the product or level of entitlement, users have access to market trends and forecasts at metropolitan and neighborhood levels throughout the U.S. and/or detailed building-specific information such as rents, vacancy rates, lease terms, property sales, new construction listings and property valuation estimates. Reis s products are designed to meet the demand for timely and accurate information to support the decision making of property owners, developers, builders, banks and non-bank lenders, equity investors and service providers. These real estate professionals require access to timely information on both the performance and pricing of assets, including detailed data on market transactions, supply, absorption, rents and sale prices. This information is critical to all aspects of valuing assets and financing their acquisition, development and construction.

Discontinued Operations Residential Development Activities

Prior to May 2007, the name of the Company was Wellsford Real Properties, Inc. (Wellsford). Wellsford, which was originally formed on January 8, 1997, acquired the Reis Services business by merger in May 2007 (the Merger). Wellsford s primary operating activities immediately prior to the Merger, and conducted through its subsidiaries, were the development, construction and sale of three residential projects and its approximate 23% ownership interest in the Reis Services business. The Company completed the sale of the remaining residential units and homes at its projects or divested of the remaining residential projects in bulk sales by April 2011. In 2012, the Company settled construction defect litigation at its Colorado project.

See Note 3 and Note 11 for additional information regarding the Company s segments and the aforementioned litigation.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Basis of Presentation

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority-owned and controlled subsidiaries. Investments in entities where the Company does not have a controlling interest are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. These investments were initially recorded at cost and were subsequently adjusted for the Company s proportionate share of the investment s income (loss) and additional contributions or distributions. All inter-company accounts and transactions among the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated in consolidation.

REIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited) (continued)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Quarterly Reporting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Accordingly, certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States (GAAP) have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules. In the opinion of management, all adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation of the Company's balance sheets, statements of operations, statement of changes in stockholders equity and statements of cash flows have been included and are of a normal and recurring nature. These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, as filed with the SEC on March 5, 2015. The consolidated statements of operations and changes in cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 are not necessarily indicative of full year results.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

From time to time, the Company has been, is or may in the future be a defendant in various legal actions arising in the normal course of business. The Company records a provision for a liability when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. The outcome of any litigation is uncertain; it is possible that a judgment in any legal actions to which the Company is a party, or which are proposed or threatened, will have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial statements. See Note 11.

REIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited) (continued)

3. Segment Information

The Company is organized into separately managed segments as follows: the Reis Services segment, the discontinued operations segment and other. The following tables present condensed balance sheet and operating data for these segments:

(amounts in thousands)

Condensed Balance Sheet Data

March 31, 2015		Reis Services		ontinued ations (A)	Other (B)	C	onsolidated
Assets		Services	Opera	tions (A)	Other (B)	U	onsonatea
Current assets:							
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	21,148	\$		\$ 218	\$	21,366
Restricted cash and investments	Ψ	21,140	Ψ		φ 210	Ψ	21,300
Accounts receivable, net		5,772					5,772
Prepaid and other assets		397			3,278		3,675
Assets attributable to discontinued operations					4		4
······································							
Total current assets		27,530			3,500		31,030
Furniture, fixtures and equipment, net		790			13		803
Intangible assets, net		14,542					14,542
Deferred tax asset, non-current portion, net		285			18,651		18,936
Goodwill		57,203			(2,378)		54,825
Other assets		118					118
Total assets	\$	100,468	\$		\$ 19,786	\$	120,254
Liabilities and stockholders equity							
Current liabilities:							
Current portion of debt	\$		\$		\$	\$	
Accrued expenses and other liabilities		2,035			542		2,577
Deferred revenue		21,317					21,317
Liabilities attributable to discontinued							
operations				271	73		344
Total current liabilities		23,352		271	615		24,238
Other long-term liabilities		375					375
Deferred tax liability, net		24,339			(24,339)		

Total liabilities	48,066	271	(23,724)	24,613
Total stockholders equity	52,402	(271)	43,510	95,641
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 100,468	\$	\$ 19,786	\$ 120,254

Condensed Balance Sheet Data

Contensed Datance Sheet Data	Reis	Disco	ontinued			
December 31, 2014	Services		ations (A)	Other (B)	Co	onsolidated
Assets		-				
Current assets:						
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 17,562	\$		\$ 183	\$	17,745
Restricted cash and investments	213					213
Accounts receivable, net	12,627					12,627
Prepaid and other assets	213			3,950		4,163
Assets attributable to discontinued operations				4		4
Total current assets	30,615			4,137		34,752
Furniture, fixtures and equipment, net	836			15		851
Intangible assets, net	14,681					14,681
Deferred tax asset, non-current portion, net	285			18,354		18,639
Goodwill	57,203			(2,378)		54,825
Other assets	140					140
Total assets	\$ 103,760	\$		\$ 20,128	\$	123,888
Liabilities and stockholders equity						
Current liabilities:						
Current portion of debt	\$	\$		\$	\$	
Accrued expenses and other liabilities	3,157			1,014		4,171
Deferred revenue	22,885					22,885
Liabilities attributable to discontinued						
operations			271	28		299
Total current liabilities	26,042		271	1,042		27,355
Other long-term liabilities	420					420
Deferred tax liability, net	23,108			(23,108)		
Total liabilities	49,570		271	(22,066)		27,775
Total stockholders equity	54,190		(271)	42,194		96,113
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 103,760	\$		\$ 20,128	\$	123,888

(A)Includes the assets and liabilities of the Company s discontinued operations, to the extent that such assets and liabilities existed at the date presented.

(B)Includes cash, other assets and liabilities not specifically attributable to or allocable to a specific operating segment.

REIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited) (continued)

Segment Information (continued)

(amounts in thousands)

Condensed Operating Data for the

Three Months Ended March 31, 2015	S	Reis ervices	Discontinued Operations (A)	(Other (B)	Co	nsolidated
Subscription revenue	\$	11,131	\$	\$		\$	11,131
Cost of sales of subscription revenue		2,186					2,186
Gross profit		8,945					8,945
Operating expenses:							
Sales and marketing		2,653					2,653
Product development		863					863
General and administrative expenses		2,160			1,161		3,321
Total operating expenses		5,676			1,161		6,837
Other income (expenses):							
Interest and other income		7					7
Interest expense		(28)					(28)
Total other income (expenses)		(21)					(21)
Income (loss) before income taxes and discontinued operations	\$	3,248	\$	\$	(1,161)	\$	2,087
(Loss) from discontinued operations, before income taxes	\$		\$	\$	(118)	\$	(118)

Condensed Operating Data for the

	Reis	Discontinued		
Three Months Ended March 31, 2014	Services	Operations (A)	Other (B)	Consolidated

	- 3	3 -	-, -		•			
Subscription revenue	\$	9,946	\$		\$		\$	9,946
Cost of sales of subscription revenue		1,916						1,916
Gross profit		8,030						8,030
Operating expenses								
Operating expenses:								
Sales and marketing		2,552						2,552
Product development		763						763
General and administrative expenses		1,892				1,146		3,038
Total operating expenses		5,207				1,146		6,353
Other income (expenses):								
Interest and other income		3						3
Interest expense		(28)						(28)
Total other income (expenses)		(25)						(25)
_								
Income (loss) before income taxes and								
discontinued operations	\$	2,798	\$		\$	(1,146)	\$	1,652
(Loss) from discontinued operations,								
before income taxes	\$		\$	(28)	¢	(505)	¢	(612)
before income taxes	Ф		Ф	(28)	\$	(585)	\$	(613)

(A) Includes the results of the Company s discontinued operations, to the extent that such operations existed during the periods presented.

(B) Includes interest and other income, depreciation expense and general and administrative expenses that have not been allocated to the operating segments.

REIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited) (continued)

Segment Information (continued)

Reis Services

See Note 1 for a description of Reis Services s business and products at March 31, 2015.

The Company s largest individual subscriber accounted for 2.7% and 3.0% of Reis Services s revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The following table presents the accounts receivable balances of Reis Services at March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

	Ν	March 31,		ecember 31,
		2015		2014
Accounts receivable	\$	5,851,000	\$	12,679,000
Allowance for doubtful accounts		(79,000)		(52,000)
Accounts receivable, net	\$	5,772,000	\$	12,627,000

Twelve subscribers accounted for an aggregate of approximately 38.7% of Reis Services s accounts receivable at March 31, 2015, with the largest representing 5.8%. Through April 27, 2015, the Company received payments of approximately \$3,082,000, or 52.7%, against the March 31, 2015 accounts receivable balance.

At March 31, 2015, the largest individual subscriber accounted for 4.2% of deferred revenue.

Discontinued Operations Residential Development Activities

(Loss) from discontinued operations is comprised of the following:

	For the Three N	For the Three Months Ended March 31				
	2015	2	2014			
Litigation recoveries	\$	\$				
Other (expense), net	(118,000	0)	(613,000)			

Edgar	Filing:	Reis,	Inc.	- Form	10-Q
-------	---------	-------	------	--------	------

(Loss) from discontinued operations before		
income tax	(118,000)	(613,000)
Income tax (benefit) from discontinued operations	(47,000)	(235,000)
(Loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax (benefit)	\$ (71,000)	\$ (378,000)

In September 2009, the Company sold the final unit at Gold Peak, the final phase of Palomino Park, a five phase multifamily residential development in Highlands Ranch, Colorado. Gold Peak was a 259-unit condominium project on the remaining 29 acre land parcel at Palomino Park. On March 13, 2012, in connection with litigation regarding construction defects at the Gold Peak project, a jury rendered its verdict whereby Reis, one of its subsidiaries (Gold Peak at Palomino Park LLC, the developer of the project (GP LLC)), and the construction manager/general contractor for the project (Tri-Star Construction West, LLC (Tri-Star)) were found jointly and severally liable for an aggregate of \$18,200,000, plus other costs of approximately \$756,000. On June 20, 2012, following denial of all of the defendants post-trial motions, Reis and its subsidiaries reached a settlement with the plaintiff, the Gold Peak homeowners association, providing for a total payment of \$17,000,000. Of this amount, \$5,000,000 was paid on August 3, 2012 and the remaining \$12,000,000 was paid on October 15, 2012, in accordance with the settlement terms. Recovery efforts through March 31, 2015 have resulted in cash collections aggregating \$819,000. No recoveries occurred in the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014. Other expenses primarily reflect legal and other professional costs incurred related to the Gold Peak litigation recovery efforts. For additional information pertaining to the Gold Peak litigation, see Note 11.

REIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited) (continued)

4. Restricted Cash and Investments

Restricted cash and investments represents a security deposit for the 530 Fifth Avenue corporate office space. The Company provided the lessor a bank-issued letter of credit, which is fully collateralized by a certificate of deposit issued by that bank. The restricted cash balance was approximately \$213,000 at March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014.

5. Intangible Assets

The amount of identified intangible assets, including the respective amounts of accumulated amortization, are as follows:

	March 31, 2015	D	ecember 31, 2014
Database	\$ 20,031,000	\$	19,435,000
Accumulated amortization	(15,500,000)		(15,018,000)
Database, net	4,531,000		4,417,000
Customer relationships Accumulated amortization	14,100,000 (7,617,000)		14,100,000 (7,379,000)
Customer relationships, net	6,483,000		6,721,000
Website	12,422,000		11,936,000
Accumulated amortization	(9,301,000)		(8,876,000)
Website, net	3,121,000		3,060,000
Acquired below market lease	2,800,000		2,800,000
Accumulated amortization	(2,393,000)		(2,317,000)
Acquired below market lease, net	407,000		483,000
Intangibles, net	\$ 14,542,000	\$	14,681,000

The Company capitalized approximately \$596,000 and \$596,000 to the database intangible asset and \$486,000 and \$482,000 to the website intangible asset during the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Amortization expense for intangible assets aggregated approximately \$1,221,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2015, of which approximately \$482,000 related to the database, which is charged to cost of sales, approximately \$238,000 related to customer relationships, which is charged to sales and marketing expense, approximately \$425,000 related to website development, which is charged to product development expense, and approximately \$76,000 related to the value ascribed to the below market terms of the office lease, which is charged to general and administrative expense, all in the Reis Services segment. Amortization expense for intangible assets aggregated approximately \$1,153,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014, of which approximately \$413,000 related to the database, approximately \$241,000 related to customer relationships, approximately \$423,000 related to website development and approximately \$76,000 related to the value ascribed to the value ascribed to the below market terms of the office lease.

6. Debt

The Company had no debt outstanding at March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014.

In October 2012, Reis Services, as borrower, and the Company, as guarantor, entered into a loan and security agreement with Capital One, National Association, as lender, for a \$10,000,000 revolving credit facility (the Revolver). The Revolver has a three year term which is set to expire on October 16, 2015, and any borrowings bear interest at a rate of LIBOR + 2.00% per annum (for LIBOR loans) or the greater of 1.00% or the bank s prime rate minus 0.50% per annum (for base rate loans) and is subject to an unused facility fee of 0.25% per annum. The Revolver is secured by a security interest in substantially all of the tangible and intangible assets of Reis Services and a pledge by the Company of its membership interests in Reis Services. The Revolver also contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, including minimum financial covenants, as defined in the agreement; all of the covenants were met at March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014. No borrowings were made on the Revolver during the three months ended March 31, 2015 and during the year ended December 31, 2014.

REIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited) (continued)

7. Income Taxes

The components of income tax expense (benefit) are as follows:

	For the Three Months Ended March 2015 2014						
Current Federal alternative minimum tax							
(AMT) expense	\$	38,000	\$				
Current state and local tax expense							
Deferred Federal tax expense (benefit) (A)		622,000		366,000			
Deferred state and local tax expense (benefit)		87,000		4,000			
Consolidated income tax expense (benefit), including taxes attributable to discontinued		747.000		270.000			
operations (B)		747,000		370,000			
Less income tax expense (benefit) attributable to discontinued operations		(47,000)		(235,000)			
Income tax expense (C)	\$	794,000	\$	605,000			

- (A) Includes an AMT (benefit) of \$(38,000) in 2015.
- (B) Includes income tax (benefit) attributable to (loss) from discontinued operations.
- (C) Reflects the tax expense from continuing operations as reported on the consolidated statements of operations for the periods presented.

During March 2014, New York State enacted a law to (1) reduce corporate tax rates, effective in future years and (2) change the method of determining the availability and use of NOLs existing at December 31, 2014. As a consequence, the Company evaluated all elements affecting the balance of its net deferred tax assets, including the availability of New York State and New York City NOL carryforwards and the changes in the New York State law which were reflected in the first quarter of 2014 income tax expense.

In January 2015, New York City proposed that it would change its tax laws to substantially conform with the New York State changes. The New York City law was enacted on April 13, 2015. The Company will assess and report the impact of the changes in the New York City law in the second quarter of 2015.

Due to the amount of its NOL and credit carryforwards, the Company does not anticipate paying Federal income taxes for a number of years. The Company expects, in the future, that it will be subject to cash payments for Federal AMT

Table of Contents

and for a portion of its state and local income taxes as the changed New York State and New York City laws limit the amount of existing NOLs which could be used each year.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The net deferred tax asset was approximately \$22,106,000 and \$22,437,000 at March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, of which \$3,170,000 and \$3,798,000 is reflected as a net current asset in prepaid and other assets and \$18,936,000 and \$18,639,000 is reflected separately as a net non-current asset in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, respectively. The significant portion of the deferred tax items relates to deferred tax assets including NOL carryforwards, Federal AMT credit carryforwards and stock based compensation, with the remainder of the deferred tax items relating to liabilities resulting from the intangible assets recorded at the time of the Merger.

The Company had Federal NOL carryforwards aggregating approximately \$61,165,000 at December 31, 2014, as well as significant state and local NOL carryforwards. These NOLs included NOLs generated subsequent to the Merger (including a substantial NOL realized during the year ended December 31, 2012 as a result of the Gold Peak litigation settlement, discussed in Note 11), losses from the Reis Services business prior to the Merger and the Company s operating losses prior to the Merger. Approximately \$20,317,000 of these Federal NOLs are subject to an annual limitation, whereas the remaining balance of approximately \$40,848,000 is not subject to such a limitation. There is an annual limitation on the use of NOLs after an ownership change, pursuant to Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. As a result of the Merger, the Company experienced such an ownership change which resulted in a new annual limitation of \$2,779,000. Because of the accumulation of annual limitations, it is expected that the use of NOLs will not be limited by expirations. The 2014 New York State law and the 2015 New York City law discussed above limit the amount of existing NOLs which could be used each year in those jurisdictions; however, all such losses are expected to be fully utilized in the future.

The Company and its subsidiaries have been audited by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) for the 2012 tax year. The audit for 2012 was completed in February 2015 with the IRS issuing a no change letter.

REIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited) (continued)

8. Stockholders Equity

During the three months ended March 31, 2015 and the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company did not repurchase any shares of common stock.

The Company commenced a quarterly dividend program in the second quarter of 2014 when it declared and paid an initial quarterly cash dividend of \$0.11 per common share. In the third and fourth quarters of 2014, the Company declared and paid a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.11 per common share. Aggregate dividends paid by the Company during 2014 approximated \$3,698,000. The Company increased the dividend declared and paid in the first quarter of 2015 to \$0.14 per common share which payment aggregated \$1,582,000.

9. Stock Plans and Other Incentives

The Company has adopted certain incentive plans for the purpose of attracting and retaining the Company s directors, officers and employees by having the ability to issue options, restricted stock units (RSUs), or stock awards. Awards granted under the Company s incentive plans expire ten years from the date of grant and vest over periods ranging generally from three to five years for employees.

Option Awards

The following table presents option activity and other plan data for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014:

	For the	Thr	ee Month	s Ended March 3	31,		
	2015			2014			
	Options	ighted- erage ercise Price	Options	Av Ex	eighted- verage xercise Price		
Outstanding at beginning of	-			-			
period	582,500	\$	9.52	627,724	\$	9.05	
Granted		\$			\$		
Exercised	(7,500)	\$	7.50		\$		
Cancelled through cash							
settlement		\$		(8,862)	\$	(4.09)	
Forfeited/cancelled/expired		\$			\$		
_							
Outstanding at end of period	575,000	\$	9.55	618,862	\$	9.12	

Options exercisable at end of	555 000	¢	0.22	610 067	¢	0.12
period	555,000	\$	9.23	618,862	Ф	9.12
Options exercisable which can						
be settled in cash		\$		8,862	\$	4.09

Certain outstanding options had allowed the option holder to receive from the Company, in cancellation of the holder s option, a cash payment with respect to each cancelled option equal to the amount, if any, by which the fair market value of the share of stock underlying the option exceeds the exercise price of such option. The Company accounted for these options as liability awards. Changes in the settlement value of option awards treated under the liability method were reflected as an increase to, or a reduction of, expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

At December 31, 2014, there were no options outstanding for which a liability was required as the remaining liability award options were either exercised or settled with a net cash payment. The Company recorded a compensation benefit of approximately \$13,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations related to the change in the amount of the liability for option cancellations in that period.

REIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited) (continued)

Stock Plans and Other Incentives (continued)

RSU Awards

The following table presents the changes in RSUs outstanding for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014:

	For	For the Three Months Ended March 31,			
		2015	2	014	
Outstanding at beginning of					
period		277,973		365,686	
Granted		78,722		93,225	
Common stock delivered					
(A) (B)		(105,970)		(185,224)	
Forfeited		(706)		(7,345)	
Outstanding at end of period		250,019		266,342	
Sutstanding at end of period		250,017		200,542	
Intrinsic value (C)	\$	6,410,000	\$	4,807,000	

- (A) The 2015 period includes 41,136 shares which were used to settle minimum employee withholding tax obligations for 28 employees of approximately \$993,000 in 2015. A net of 64,834 shares of common stock were delivered in 2015.
- (B) In the 2014 period, all of the vested RSUs were issued as shares.
- (C) For purposes of this calculation, the Company s closing stock prices were \$25.64 and \$18.05 per share on March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

In the first quarter of 2015, an aggregate of 77,405 RSUs were granted to employees, which RSUs vest one-third a year over three years and had an average grant date fair value of \$23.51 per RSU. In February 2014, an aggregate of 91,431 RSUs were granted to employees, which RSUs vest one-third a year over three years and had a grant date fair value of \$18.13 per RSU. In each case, the grant date fair value was determined based on the closing stock price of the Company s common stock on the applicable date of grant. The awards granted to employees in 2015 and 2014 are treated as equity awards and the grant date fair value is charged to compensation expense at the corporate level on a straight-line basis over the vesting periods. Dividends are not paid or accrued on unvested employee RSUs.

During the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, an aggregate of 1,317 RSUs and 1,794 RSUs, respectively, were granted to non-employee directors (with an average grant date fair value of \$26.17 and \$19.23 per RSU, respectively) related to the equity component of their compensation. In each case, the grant date fair value was determined as of the last trading day of the quarter for which the RSUs were being received as compensation. The RSUs are immediately vested, but are not deliverable to the non-employee directors until six months after termination of their service as a director. Dividends are paid on RSUs granted to non-employee directors.

Option and RSU Expense Information

The Company recorded non-cash compensation expense of approximately \$446,000 and \$448,000, respectively, including \$34,500 in each period related to non-employee director equity compensation, for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, related to all stock options and RSUs accounted for as equity awards, as a component of general and administrative expenses in the statements of operations.

10. Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share is computed based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per common share is based upon the increased number of common shares that would be outstanding assuming the exercise of dilutive common share options and the consideration of restricted stock awards. The following table details the computation of earnings per common share, basic and diluted:

REIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited) (continued)

Earnings Per Common Share (continued)

	For	the Three Month 2015	s Ende	ed March 31, 2014
Numerator for basic per share calculation:				
Income from continuing operations for basic calculation	\$	1,293,370	\$	1,046,980
(Loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax (benefit)		(71,354)		(377,878)
Net income for basic calculation	\$	1,222,016	\$	669,102
Numerator for diluted per share calculation:				
Income from continuing operations	\$	1,293,370	\$	1,046,980
Adjustments to income from continuing				
operations for the income statement				(12.950)
impact of dilutive securities				(12,850)
Income from continuing operations for dilution calculation		1,293,370		1,034,130
(Loss) from discontinued operations,		1,295,570		1,034,130
net of income tax (benefit)		(71,354)		(377,878)
Net income for dilution calculation	\$	1,222,016	\$	656,252
Denominator:				
Weighted average common shares				
basic		11,190,683		10,978,716
Effect of dilutive securities:				
RSUs		155,677		174,938
Stock options		346,204		309,676
Weighted average common shares				
diluted		11,692,564		11,463,330

Per common share amounts basic:		
Income from continuing operations	\$ 0.12	\$ 0.10
(Loss) from discontinued operations	(0.01)	(0.04)
Net income	\$ 0.11	\$ 0.06
Per common share amounts diluted:		
Income from continuing operations	\$ 0.11	\$ 0.09
(Loss) from discontinued operations	(0.01)	(0.03)
Net income	\$ 0.10	\$ 0.06

Potentially dilutive securities include all stock based awards. For the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, only certain equity awards were antidilutive.

11. Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, the Company has been, is or may in the future be a defendant in various legal actions arising in the normal course of business. The Company records a provision for a liability when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated.

Reis has purchased insurance with respect to construction defect and completed operations at its past real estate development projects. Reis has, from time to time, been exposed to various claims associated with the development, construction and sale of condominium units, single family homes or lots. Claims related to dissatisfaction by homeowners and homeowners associations with the construction of condominiums, homes and amenities by us and/or our developer partners in any condominium or subdivision development, or other matters, may result in litigation costs, remediation costs, warranty expenses or settlement costs which could be material to the Company s reportable discontinued operating income (loss), or its consolidated financial position or cash flows. It would not have any effect on the Company s income from continuing operations.

Reis, Inc. and two of its subsidiaries (GP LLC and Wellsford Park Highlands Corp. (WPHC)) were the subject of a suit brought by the homeowners association at the Company s former 259-unit Gold Peak condominium project outside of Denver, Colorado. This suit was filed in District Court in Douglas County, Colorado on October 19, 2010, seeking monetary damages (not quantified at the time) relating to design and construction defects at the Gold Peak project. Tri-Star, the construction manager/general contractor for the project (not affiliated with Reis) and two former senior officers of Reis, Inc. (Jeffrey H. Lynford, who was also previously a director of the Company, and David M. Strong) were also named as defendants in the suit. In October 2011, experts

REIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited) (continued)

Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

for the plaintiff delivered a report alleging a cost to repair of approximately \$19,000,000. Trial commenced on February 21, 2012 and a jury rendered its verdict on March 13, 2012 finding Reis, GP LLC and Tri-Star jointly and severally liable for an aggregate of \$18,200,000, plus other costs of approximately \$756,000.

On June 20, 2012, following denial of all of the defendants post-trial motions, Reis, GP LLC and WPHC reached a settlement with the plaintiff, the Gold Peak homeowners association, providing for a total payment of \$17,000,000. Of this amount, \$5,000,000 was paid on August 3, 2012 and the remaining \$12,000,000 was paid on October 15, 2012, in accordance with the settlement terms. In reaching the decision to settle, Reis s management and Board considered, among other factors: (1) the amount of the settlement versus the potential for an ultimately greater judgment after appeal, including additional costs and post-judgment interest; (2) the benefits of the clarity of settling the case at this time versus continuing uncertainty; and (3) the strong cash flow generation of Reis Services s core business.

In connection with the development of Gold Peak, the Company purchased a commercial general liability WRAP insurance policy from a predecessor of ACE Westchester (ACE) covering the Company (including its subsidiaries) and its former officers, Tri-Star and Tri-Star s subcontractors. The Company took the position that a total of \$9,000,000 (and possibly \$12,000,000) of coverage was available for this claim. ACE took the position that only \$3,000,000 of coverage (including defense costs) was provided. The Company filed suit against ACE in District Court in Douglas County, Colorado on January 18, 2012, alleging failure to cover this claim, bad faith and other related causes of action. In particular, the Gold Peak litigation could have been settled for \$12,000,000 or less prior to the trial. On November 20, 2014, the Colorado District Court determined that the WRAP policy provided \$3,000,000 of coverage (including defense costs). The Company is currently evaluating its appeal rights regarding such ruling. The Company continues to take the position that ACE is liable for all damages stemming from its failure to engage and settle.

Additionally, the Company made claims against other additional insurance companies under policies maintained by the Company, including Reis s directors and officers insurance policy, and against Reis s former insurance broker. On November 20, 2014, the Colorado District Court determined that the directors and officers insurance policy had no obligation to the Company for the asserted claims. A motion for summary judgment by the insurance broker was denied at that time by the Colorado District Court. Trial in this comprehensive insurance action, including ACE and the insurance broker, is scheduled for July 2015.

The Company has also brought separate claims against Tri-Star, the subcontractors, the architect and a third party inspector engaged at Gold Peak, relating to those parties actions on the project. A trial for these actions is scheduled for October 2015.

Reis continues to consider its options with respect to contribution or other actions against other third parties and/or co-defendants in the lawsuit, and will pursue all reasonable efforts to mitigate the effects of the 2012 settlement. Recovery efforts through March 31, 2015 resulted in cash collections aggregating \$819,000. No recoveries occurred in the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014. There is no assurance that the Company will be successful in any of its recovery efforts.

The Company is not a party to any other litigation that could reasonably be foreseen to be material to the Company.

12. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

At March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Company s financial instruments included receivables, payables, accrued expenses, other liabilities and debt. The fair values of these financial instruments, excluding debt, were not materially different from their recorded values at March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014. The Company had no debt outstanding at March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014. See Note 6 for additional information about the Company s debt.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q.

Organization and Business

Reis, Inc. is a Maryland corporation. When we refer to Reis or the Company, we are referring to Reis, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. The Company provides commercial real estate market information and analytical tools to real estate professionals, through its Reis Services subsidiary. For disclosure and financial reporting purposes, this business is referred to as the Reis Services segment.

Reis Services

Reis Services, including its predecessors, was founded in 1980. Reis maintains a proprietary database containing detailed information on commercial properties in metropolitan markets and neighborhoods throughout the U.S. The database contains information on apartment, office, retail, warehouse/distribution, flex/research & development, self storage and seniors housing properties, and is used by real estate investors, lenders and other professionals to make informed buying, selling and financing decisions. In addition, Reis data is used by debt and equity investors to assess, quantify and manage the risks of default and loss associated with individual mortgages, properties, portfolios and real estate backed securities. Reis currently provides its information services to many of the nation s leading lending institutions, equity investors, brokers and appraisers.

Product Overview

The Company s product portfolio features: *Reis SE*, its flagship delivery platform aimed at larger and mid-sized enterprises; *ReisReports*, aimed at prosumers and smaller enterprises; and *Mobiuss Portfolio CRE*, or *Mobiuss*, aimed primarily at risk managers and credit administrators at banks and non-bank lending institutions. It is through these products that Reis provides online access to a proprietary database of commercial real estate information and analytical tools designed to facilitate debt and equity transactions as well as ongoing asset and portfolio evaluations. Depending on the product or level of entitlement, users have access to market trends and forecasts at metropolitan and neighborhood levels throughout the U.S. and/or detailed building-specific information such as rents, vacancy rates, lease terms, property sales, new construction listings and property valuation estimates. Reis s products are designed to meet the demand for timely and accurate information to support the decision making of property owners, developers, builders, banks and non-bank lenders, equity investors and service providers. These real estate professionals require access to timely information on both the performance and pricing of assets, including detailed data on market transactions, supply, absorption, rents and sale prices. This information is critical to all aspects of valuing assets and financing their acquisition, development and construction.

Operations

As commercial real estate markets grow in size and complexity, Reis continues to invest in the databases, technologies, intellectual capital and personnel critical to supporting the information needs of commercial real estate professionals. Specifically, Reis has:

developed expertise in data collection across multiple markets and property types;

invested in the analytical expertise to develop decision support systems that generate market trends and forecasts, property valuations, credit analytics, transaction support and risk management;

created product development expertise to collect market feedback and translate it into new products and reports; and

invested in a robust technology infrastructure to disseminate these tools to the wide variety of market participants.

These investments have established Reis as a leading provider of commercial real estate information and analytical tools to the investment community. Reis continues to develop and introduce new products, expand and add new markets and data, and find new ways to deliver existing information to meet client demand, as more fully described below under Products and Services. The depth and breadth of Reis s data and expertise are critical in allowing Reis to grow its business.

Proprietary Databases

Reis develops and maintains three highly curated, proprietary databases which include information on property performance, new construction and sales comparables. The significant characteristics of the Reis databases include:

Breadth - coverage of seven property types, including apartment, office, retail, warehouse/distribution, flex/research & development, self storage and seniors housing properties;

Geography - national coverage of up to 275 of the largest U.S. metropolitan CRE markets, over 7,100 discrete market areas and segments with submarket boundaries proprietary to Reis;

Depth - captures critical information such as occupancies, rents, rent discounts, tenant improvement allowances, lease terms, expenses, buyer, seller, purchase price, capitalization rate, financing details and other key factors;

History - up to 35 years of data through multiple cycles of economic/market peaks and troughs; and

Frequency - market and submarket reports available monthly or quarterly and sales comparables and new construction information updated on daily and weekly schedules.

The following table lists the number of metropolitan markets for each of the seven types of commercial real estate covered by Reis:

	March 31,	December 31,
	2015	2014
Apartment	275	275
Office	190	190
Retail	190	190
Warehouse/distribution	47	47
Flex/research & development	47	47
Self storage	50	50
Seniors housing	110	57

Reis programmatically expands its property level and market coverage by geography and property type. During 2014, Reis introduced coverage on its seventh property type, seniors housing, in 57 metropolitan areas and in February 2015 expanded this coverage by adding an additional 53 metropolitan areas, bringing its coverage in the seniors housing asset class to 110 markets. In May 2015, Reis will introduce coverage on its eighth property type, student housing, with information and reports on 100 student housing markets, to be followed by an expected additional 100 student housing markets in August 2015. In 2016, the Company expects to introduce two additional property types, medical office buildings and affordable housing, which will bring our offering to up to 10 distinct property types.

Reis s core property database contains information on competitive, income-producing properties in the U.S. apartment, office, retail, warehouse/distribution, flex/research & development, self storage and seniors housing sectors. On an ongoing basis, Reis surveys and receives data downloads from building owners, leasing agents and managers which include key building performance statistics including, among others: occupancy rates; rents; rent discounts and other concessions; tenant improvement allowances; lease terms; and operating expenses. In addition, Reis processes multiple data sources on commercial real estate, including: public filings databases; tax assessor records; deed transfers; planning boards; and numerous local, regional and national publications and commercial real estate websites. Reis screens and assembles large volumes of data into integrated supply and demand trends on a monthly basis at the neighborhood (submarket) and metropolitan market levels. All collected data are subjected to a rigorous quality assurance and validation process developed over many years. At the property level, surveyors compare the data collected in the current period with data previously collected on that property and similar properties. If any unusual changes in rents and vacancies are identified, follow-up procedures are performed for verification or clarification of the results. All aggregate market data at the submarket and market levels are also subjected to comprehensive quality controls.

In addition to its core property database, Reis develops and maintains a new construction database that identifies and monitors projects that are being added to our covered markets. Detailed tracking of the supply side of the commercial real estate market is critical to projecting performance changes at the market and submarket levels. This database is updated weekly and reports relevant information such as project size, property type, location, status, and estimated completion dates for projects that are planned, proposed or under construction.

Reis also maintains a sales comparables database containing transactions in up to 277 metropolitan markets. The database captures key information on each transaction, such as buyer, seller, purchase price, capitalization rate and financing details, where available, for transactions valued at greater than \$250,000 in each market we cover, for our seven current property types, as well as for hotel properties.

Reis s long-standing relationships with thousands of data sources, including building owners, property managers and agents, represent a unique and highly valuable asset that has required decades of investment. The Company is recognized by the industry and the business and trade press as the premier source of objective, timely and granular market information, a reputation attributable to several factors: (1) Reis is viewed as independent as it does not compete as a broker in the listings space; and (2) Reis information is used by owners and managers in the underwriting, due diligence and marketing of properties, mortgages and real estate backed securities at both the single asset and portfolio levels.

Products and Services

Reis has invested in a robust technology infrastructure to disseminate a number of market information products to meet the demands of a wide variety of commercial real estate professionals, from large financial institutions seeking an integrated commercial real estate portfolio management platform, to a single access user seeking local market intelligence. Reis is committed to consistently upgrading and expanding its product offering to reach new markets and new types of consumers of commercial real estate information.

Reis SE

Reis SE (Subscriber Edition), available <u>at www.reis.com</u>, is the Company s flagship product, designed to assist in market research, due diligence and support of commercial real estate transactions, including loan originations, underwriting, acquisitions, risk assessment (such as loan loss reserves and impairment analyses), portfolio monitoring, asset management and appraisal. Reports are retrievable by street address, property type (apartment, office, retail, warehouse/distribution, flex/research & development, self storage and seniors housing) or on the market/submarket level and are available as full color, presentation quality documents or in spreadsheet formats.

Key features of *Reis SE* include:

Market Reports - On a monthly basis, Reis provides updated trends and forecasts of rent, vacancy, and inventory for apartment, office, retail, warehouse/distribution, flex/research & development, self storage and seniors housing property types in up to 275 metropolitan areas and more than 7,100 discrete market areas and segments.

Rent Comparables - Based on a user specified area, Reis supplies property level performance data such as rents and vacancies, as well as comp group summary statistics, including concessions, operating expenses and lease terms.

Sales Comparables - Reis maintains a sales comparables database containing transactions in up to 277 metropolitan areas. The database captures key information on each transaction, such as buyer, seller, purchase price, capitalization rate and financing details, where available, for transactions valued at greater

than \$250,000, for our seven current property types, as well as for hotel properties.

Construction Comparables - Reis monitors new projects from the planning stages to opening day to stabilization, capturing the anticipated effect of new competitive inventory on local supply and demand dynamics.

Single Property Valuation - Designed to help clients quantify the value and risk associated with their commercial real estate holdings, the valuation module utilizes three valuation methods discounted cash flow, direct capitalization and sales price per square foot supported by comparable transactions in the local market.

First Glance Reports - Quarterly narrative reports provide an early assessment of the apartment, office, retail and industrial sectors across the U.S. and commentary on new construction activity.

Quarterly Briefings - Two conference calls each quarter attended by hundreds of Reis subscribers, plus members of the media, during which Reis economists provide an overview of the latest high-level findings and forecasts for the commercial real estate space and capital markets.

Real Estate News and Commentary - Executive Briefings, the Reis Observer and news stories selected by Reis analysts from among hundreds of sources to provide news relevant to a particular market and property type.

Email Alerts - Customizable email alerts that let users receive proactive updates on markets of interest. Access to *Reis SE* is by secure password and can be customized to accommodate the coverage, property type and analytical needs of subscribers. For example, the product can be tailored to provide access to all or only selected markets, property types and report combinations.

ReisReports

ReisReports is a product tailored to meet the needs of smaller enterprises and individuals, professional investors, brokers and appraisers, available at <u>www.ReisReports.com</u>. Although providing subscribers with less content and a more limited number of reports, *ReisReports* utilizes the same proprietary database that supports *Reis SE. ReisReports* is available on a monthly or annual subscription basis at affordable price points.

The addressable subscriber market for *ReisReports* includes hundreds of thousands of prosumers and small enterprises. To expand the total user base of *ReisReports*, the Company markets through various traditional and online media channels. Management believes that there is a significant opportunity to market monthly and annual subscriptions to CRE professionals active in individual metropolitan areas.

Mobiuss Portfolio CRE

Mobiuss enables clients to quickly and thoroughly assess portfolio risks and opportunities by integrating client loan and property information with Reis property and submarket data and third party credit analytics. The solution is delivered in a web-based, visually engaging interface. *Mobiuss* is targeted to both debt and equity capital providers active in U.S. commercial real estate and, specifically, to banks with significant CRE loan exposure.

As a loan-level analysis and surveillance platform, *Mobiuss* enables property valuation, credit analysis, stress testing, benchmarking and portfolio pricing. In addition to providing credit default metrics such as expected losses and probabilities of default at the loan and portfolio levels, outputs include forecasted collateral operating incomes and values under multiple economic scenarios. These features allow clients to integrate internal data to create customizable scenario forecasts to meet regulatory stress testing requirements, set loan loss reserves and monitor their collateral.

The *Mobiuss* platform is intended for both large and small lending institutions, Commercial Mortgage Backed Security, or CMBS, investors and equity investors, among others. *Mobiuss* has been designed in a modular fashion that allows banks of varying asset sizes to select the applications and price points most appropriate to the scale of their CRE portfolios.

Data Redistribution / Marketing Alliances

The Company has established data redistribution agreements with information service providers as part of a strategy designed to raise brand awareness and generate sales leads for Reis s information and services. Over time, third party users may enter into agreements with Reis directly in order to gain access to the full suite of reports and analytical modules. The Company s data redistribution agreements are typically multi-year contracts in length, do not afford access to Reis s proprietary database and provide limited views of Reis s market data. Reis has also established

marketing alliances to promote *ReisReports* to its alliance partners members through discounts, email outreach, website advertising and newsletter ads.

Cost of Service

Reis s data is made available in six ways, with price points that are reflective of the level of content being made available:

annual and multi-year subscriptions to *Reis SE* ranging in price from \$1,000 to over \$1,000,000, depending upon the subscriber s line of business and the combination of markets, property types and reports subscribed to, for which the subscriber is typically allowed to download an unlimited number of reports over the subscription period; renewals for *Reis SE*

are negotiated in advance of the expiration of an existing contract based on factors such as a subscriber s historical and projected report consumption;

annual and multi-year subscriptions to *Mobiuss* typically ranging in price from the low tens of thousands of dollars into the hundreds of thousands of dollars;

capped *Reis SE* subscriptions typically ranging in price from \$1,000 to \$25,000, allowing clients to download a fixed retail value of reports over a period of up to twelve months;

subscriptions to *ReisReports*, which are charged to a credit card, having a retail price in the low hundreds of dollars per month, depending on the level of service subscribed to (monthly or annual pricing options are available);

custom data deliverables ranging in price from \$1,000 for a specific data element to hundreds of thousands of dollars for custom portfolio valuation and credit analysis; and

individual reports, which can be purchased with a credit card, having retail prices up to \$999 per report, are available to anyone who visits Reis s retail website or contacts Reis via telephone, fax or email; however, certain reports are only available with an annual subscription or capped subscription account.

Reis s revenue model is based primarily on annual subscriptions that are paid in accordance with contractual billing terms. Reis recognizes revenue from its contracts on a ratable basis; for example, one-twelfth of the value of a one-year contract is recognized monthly.

Other Reis Services Information

For additional information on the Reis Services business, refer to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 5, 2015.

Additional Segment Financial Information

See Note 3 of the Company s consolidated financial statements, included in this filing, for additional information regarding the Company s segments.

Selected Significant Accounting Policies

For a description of our selected significant accounting policies and estimates, see our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Critical Business Metrics of the Reis Services Segment

Management considers certain metrics in evaluating the performance of the Reis Services segment. These metrics are revenue, revenue growth, EBITDA (which is earnings (defined as income (loss) from continuing operations) before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization), EBITDA growth, EBITDA margin, Adjusted EBITDA (which is

Table of Contents

earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and stock based compensation), Adjusted EBITDA growth and Adjusted EBITDA margin. Other important metrics that management considers include the cash flow generation of the Reis Services business as well as the visibility into future performance as supported by our deferred revenue and other related metrics discussed in this Item 2.

Following is a presentation of revenue, EBITDA and EBITDA margin for the Reis Services segment and revenue, EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and the related margins on a consolidated basis (excluding discontinued operations) (see below for a reconciliation of income from continuing operations to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for both the Reis Services segment and on a consolidated basis for each of the periods presented here).

(amounts in thousands, excluding percentages)

For the Three Months Ended March 31,						Percentage	
		2015		2014	I	ncrease	Increase
Reis Services segment:							
Revenue	\$	11,131	\$	9,946	\$	1,185	11.9%
EBITDA	\$	4,594	\$	4,066	\$	528	13.0%
EBITDA margin		41.3%		40.9%			
Consolidated, excluding discontinued							
operations:							
Revenue	\$	11,131	\$	9,946	\$	1,185	11.9%
EBITDA	\$	3,435	\$	2,922	\$	513	17.6%
EBITDA margin		30.9%		29.4%			
Adjusted EBITDA	\$	3,881	\$	3,357	\$	524	15.6%
Adjusted EBITDA margin		34.9%		33.8%			

	For the Three Months Ended						Percentage	
	Μ	March 31, D 2015		December 31, 2014		ecrease)	Increase (Decrease)	
Reis Services segment:								
Revenue	\$	11,131	\$	10,726	\$	405	3.8%	
EBITDA	\$	4,594	\$	4,410	\$	184	4.2%	
EBITDA margin		41.3%		41.1%				
Consolidated, excluding discontinued								
operations:								
Revenue	\$	11,131	\$	10,726	\$	405	3.8%	
EBITDA	\$	3,435	\$	3,631	\$	(196)	(5.4%)	
EBITDA margin		30.9%		33.9%				
Adjusted EBITDA	\$	3,881	\$	3,889	\$	(8)	(0.0%)	
Adjusted EBITDA margin		34.9%		36.3%				

2015 Revenue Performance

All of the Company s revenue is generated by the Reis Services segment. Reis Services revenue increased by approximately \$1,185,000, or 11.9%, from the first quarter of 2014 to the first quarter of 2015. The revenue increase over the corresponding prior quarterly period is the 20th consecutive quarterly increase in revenue over the prior year s quarter. In addition, revenue increased by approximately \$405,000, or 3.8%, from the fourth quarter of 2014 to the first quarter of 2015. In general, revenue increases in 2015 primarily reflect additional new *Reis SE* business and price increases on renewals. The revenue growth experienced by the Company reflects not just a single strong quarter, but also the momentum created by sustained contract growth during 2014 and into 2015. The Company continues to post record bookings performance with respect to the dollar value of contracts. Fiscal 2014, as well as the fourth quarter of 2014, represented an unprecedented volume of contract signings. The Company s prior modest decline in the trailing twelve month renewal rates was reversed in the first quarter of 2015. After falling to 87% overall and 89% for institutional subscribers as of December 31, 2014, the Company s trailing twelve month renewal rate, as of March 31, 2015, increased to 88% overall and to 90% for institutional subscribers. The decline in the renewal rates during 2014 (the trailing twelve month renewal rate was 91% overall and 93% for institutional subscribers at March 31, 2014) reflected the Company s decision to be more aggressive on renewal pricing, particularly in instances where customer usage levels were significantly greater than what was initially estimated as annual usage for that customer. The

Company continues this policy in 2015, believing that aligning client report consumption with appropriate annual fees, while remaining respectful of subscriber need for Reis information, is more important in the long-term, than a modest decline in the current renewal rate. Also, based upon past experience, management believes that many non-renewing customers ultimately renew with Reis as their information and analytic needs may not be fully addressed by competitive offerings.

The Company s revenue model is based primarily on annual subscriptions that are paid in accordance with contractual billing terms. Reis recognizes revenue from its contracts on a ratable basis; for example, one-twelfth of the value of a one-year contract is recognized monthly. Therefore, increases in the dollar value of new contracts are spread evenly over the life of a contract, thereby moderating an immediate impact on revenue. Historically, the largest percentage of our contracts are executed in the fourth quarter of each year and 2014 was not an exception to that trend. The first quarter 2015 revenue growth rate was impacted by the effect on revenue from multi-year contracts. As described in the Management Summary section of Item 7. of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, as filed with the SEC on March 5, 2015, multi-year contracts can influence our growth rates.

Based upon several factors, including historical and anticipated report consumption, our account managers determine whether Reis and a subscriber are best served by an annual or multi-year commitment. Over approximately the past three years, in order to increase the predictability of fees from our subscribers and Reis s own revenue and cash flow, we have made a concerted effort to encourage multi-year contracts when appropriate, with terms of two or three years, and in some cases, four years. The average life of multi-year contracts signed in each of the last three years (2012, 2013 and 2014) was approximately 2.2 years. There are significant benefits to adopting and expanding our program, on a selective basis, of lengthening the duration of client contracts, including locking in recurring revenue for longer periods, thereby increasing the predictability of our renewal rates and future revenues. From an operational perspective, multi-year contracts free up account management resources to focus on subscribers requiring a higher level of attention and upselling opportunities across our account base. Finally, multi-year deals also insulate us from competitive pressures and increase the likeliness that Reis data and analytics will become embedded in the work flow of our clients.

In accordance with GAAP, our revenue recognition policy is to record revenue ratably over the life of a subscriber contract. Therefore any increases in the price of the subscription after the first year of a multi-year contract are considered in the total amount being straight-lined over the contract term. If pricing steps are built in on and after the first anniversary of a multi-year contract, there will be increasing cash flow from the contract, but no growth in revenue during the subsequent years under that contract. At the beginning of the first quarter of 2015, there were approximately 240 institutions signed to multi-year contracts, including many of our largest subscribers. With the currently experienced first quarter renewals on multi-year contracts which expired and were renewed in that period, and the anticipated renewal of additional multi-year contracts originally signed in 2013, and in years prior, coming up for renewal later in 2015, we expect incremental growth in each of the next three quarters of 2015 and into 2016.

Deferred Revenue and Aggregate Revenue Under Contract

Two additional metrics management utilizes are deferred revenue and Aggregate Revenue Under Contract. Analyzing these amounts can provide additional insight into Reis Services s future financial performance. Deferred revenue, which is a GAAP basis accounting concept and is reported by the Company on the consolidated balance sheet, represents revenue from annual or longer term contracts for which we have billed and/or received payments from our subscribers related to services we will be providing over the remaining contract period. It does not include future revenue under non-cancellable contracts for which we do not yet have the contractual right to bill; this aggregate number we refer to as Aggregate Revenue Under Contract. Deferred revenue will be recognized as revenue ratably over the remaining life of a contract. The following table reconciles deferred revenue to Aggregate Revenue Under Contract at March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. A comparison of these balances at March 31 of each year is more meaningful than a comparison to the December 31, 2014 balances, as a greater percentage of renewals occur in the fourth quarter of each year and would distort the analysis.

	March 31,			
		2015		2014
Deferred revenue (GAAP basis)	\$	21,317,000	\$	19,251,000
Amounts under non-cancellable contracts for which the Company does not yet have the contractual right to bill				
at the period end (A)		25,224,000		20,838,000
Aggregate Revenue Under Contract	\$	46,541,000	\$	40,089,000

(A) Amounts are billable subsequent to March 31 of each year and represent (i) non-cancellable contracts for subscribers with multi-year subscriptions where the future years are not yet billable, or (ii) subscribers with non-cancellable annual subscriptions with interim billing terms.

Included in Aggregate Revenue Under Contract at March 31, 2015 was approximately \$30,906,000 related to amounts under contract for the forward twelve month period through March 31, 2016. The remainder reflects amounts under contract beyond March 31, 2016. The forward twelve month Aggregate Revenue Under Contract amount is approximately 72.7% of revenue on a trailing twelve month basis at March 31, 2015 of approximately \$42,520,000. For comparison purposes, at March 31, 2014, the forward twelve month Aggregate Revenue Under Contract was \$27,009,000 and approximately 74.1% of revenue.

Both deferred revenue and Aggregate Revenue Under Contract are influenced by: (1) the timing and dollar value of contracts signed and billed; (2) the quantity and timing of contracts that are multi-year; and (3) the impact of recording revenue ratably over the life of a multi-year contract, which moderates the effect of price increases after the first year.

2015 Reis Services EBITDA Performance

Reis Services EBITDA for the three months ended March 31, 2015 was \$4,594,000, an increase of \$528,000, or 13.0%, over the first quarter 2014 amount. The Reis Services EBITDA increase over the corresponding prior quarterly period is the 18th consecutive quarterly increase in Reis Services EBITDA over the prior year s quarter. On a consecutive quarter basis, Reis Services EBITDA increased \$184,000, or 4.2%, from the fourth quarter of 2014 to the first quarter of 2015. These increases were primarily derived from the increases in revenue, as described above. Operating expenses also continued to grow, the net effect of which resulted in the Reis Services EBITDA margins of 41.3% for the three months ended March 31, 2015, slightly greater than the reported Reis Services EBITDA margins of 40.9% in the 2014 comparable period. See Results of Operations for a discussion of the variances for specific expenses.

Investment in our business remains a priority. Our employee headcount in the sales and operational groups is expected to increase in 2015 and we expect to accelerate our marketing initiatives that were set in place in the latter part of 2014. These are sound investments that will further differentiate Reis in the world of U.S. commercial real estate market information providers. These continuing investments may cause temporary declines in our EBITDA margins in certain quarters during 2015, but we believe that any declines will be short term as we expect that these investments will result in additional revenue opportunities for Reis in the future.

Reconciliations of Income from Continuing Operations to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA

We define EBITDA as earnings (income (loss) from continuing operations) before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. We define Adjusted EBITDA as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and stock based compensation. Although EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not measures of performance calculated in accordance with GAAP, senior management uses EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to measure operational and management performance. Management believes that EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are appropriate supplemental financial measures to be considered in addition to the reported GAAP basis financial information which may assist investors in evaluating and understanding: (1) the performance of the Reis Services segment, the primary business of the Company and (2) the Company s continuing consolidated results, from year to year or period to period, as applicable. Further, these measures provide the reader with the ability to understand our operational performance while isolating non-cash charges, such as depreciation and amortization expenses, as well as other non-operating items, such as interest income, interest expense and income taxes and, in the case of Adjusted EBITDA, isolates non-cash charges for stock based compensation. Management also believes that disclosing EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA will provide better comparability to other companies in the information services sector. However, because EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not calculated in accordance with GAAP, they may not necessarily be comparable to similarly titled measures employed by other companies. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are presented both for the Reis Services segment and on a consolidated basis. We believe that these metrics, for Reis Services, provide the reader with valuable information for evaluating the financial performance of the core Reis Services business, excluding public company costs, and for making assessments about the intrinsic value of that stand-alone business to a potential acquirer. Management primarily monitors and measures its performance, and is compensated, based on the results of the Reis Services segment. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, on a consolidated basis, allow the reader to make assessments about the current trading value of the Company s common stock, including expenses related to operating as a public company. However, investors should not consider these measures in isolation or as substitutes for net income (loss), income from continuing operations, operating income, or any other measure for

determining operating performance that is calculated in accordance with GAAP. Reconciliations of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to the most comparable GAAP financial measure, income from continuing operations, follow for each identified period on a segment basis (including the Reis Services segment), as well as on a consolidated basis:

(amounts in thousands)			
Reconciliation of Income from Continuing Operations to EBITDA and	By Se	gment	
Adjusted EBITDA for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015	Reis Services	Other (A)	Consolidated
Income from continuing operations			\$ 1,293
Income tax expense			794
Income (loss) before income taxes and discontinued operations Add back:	\$ 3,248	\$ (1,161)	2,087
Depreciation and amortization expense	1,325	2	1,327
Interest expense (income), net	21		21
EBITDA	4,594	(1,159)	3,435
Add back:			
Stock based compensation expense		446	446
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 4,594	\$ (713)	\$ 3,881
Reconciliation of Income from Continuing Operations to EBITDA and	By Se	gment	
Adjusted EBITDA for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014	Reis Services	Other (A)	Consolidated
Income from continuing operations		0 ()	\$ 1,047
Income tax expense			605
Income (loss) before income taxes and discontinued operations Add back:	\$ 2,798	\$ (1,146)	1,652
Depreciation and amortization expense	1,243	2	1,245
Interest expense (income), net	25		25
EBITDA	4,066	(1,144)	2,922
Add back:			
Stock based compensation expense, net		435	435
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 4,066	\$ (709)	\$ 3,357
Reconciliation of Income from Continuing Operations to EBITDA and	By Se	gment	
Adjusted EBITDA for the Three Months Ended December 31, 2014	Reis Services	Other (A)	Consolidated
Income from continuing operations			\$ 1,524
Income tax expense			768
Income (loss) before income taxes and discontinued operations Add back:	\$ 3,073	\$ (781)	2,292
Depreciation and amortization expense	1,315	2	1,317
Interest expense (income), net	22		22

EBITDA	4,410	(779)	3,631
Add back:			
Stock based compensation expense, net		258	258
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 4,410 \$	(521) \$	3,889

(A) Includes interest and other income, depreciation expense and general and administrative expenses (including public company related costs) that are not associated with the Reis Services segment. Since the reconciliations start with income from continuing operations, the effects of the discontinued operations (Residential Development Activities) are excluded from these reconciliations for all periods presented.
Results of Operations

Comparison of the Results of Operations for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 and 2014

Subscription revenues and related cost of sales were approximately \$11,131,000 and \$2,186,000, respectively, for the three months ended March 31, 2015, which resulted in a gross profit for the Reis Services segment of approximately \$8,945,000. Amortization expense included in cost of sales (for the database intangible asset) was approximately \$482,000 during this period. Subscription revenues and related cost of sales were approximately \$9,946,000 and \$1,916,000, respectively, for the three months ended March 31, 2014, which resulted in a gross profit for the Reis Services segment of approximately \$8,030,000. Amortization expense included in cost of sales was approximately \$413,000 during this period. See Critical Business Metrics of the Reis Services Business for a discussion of the variances and trends in revenue and EBITDA of the Reis Services segment. The increase in cost of sales of

\$270,000 resulted from greater employment related costs, specifically from hiring during 2014, coupled with compensation increases and higher benefit costs than in the 2014 period of \$201,000 and a \$69,000 increase in amortization expense for database costs.

Sales and marketing expenses were approximately \$2,653,000 and \$2,552,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and solely represented costs of the Reis Services segment. Amortization expense included in sales and marketing expenses (for the customer relationships intangible asset) was approximately \$238,000 and \$241,000 during the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The increase in sales and marketing expenses between the two periods of approximately \$101,000 resulted from greater employment related costs from hiring during 2014 and 2015 and increased commissions expense, coupled with compensation increases and higher benefit costs than in the 2014 period.

Product development expenses were approximately \$863,000 and \$763,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and solely represented costs of the Reis Services segment. Amortization expense included in product development expenses (for the website intangible asset) was approximately \$425,000 and \$423,000 during the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Product development costs increased \$100,000, primarily due to increased employment related costs from hiring during 2014 and 2015, coupled with compensation increases and higher benefit costs than in the 2014 period.

General and administrative expenses of approximately \$3,321,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2015 included current period expenses of approximately \$2,693,000, depreciation and amortization expense of approximately \$182,000 for the lease value intangible asset and furniture, fixtures and equipment, and approximately \$446,000 of net non-cash compensation expense. The net non-cash compensation expense was comprised of equity awards for employees and directors. Non-cash compensation in the 2015 period was not impacted by liability award options as all of the options accounted for under that method were either settled in cash or exercised in the year ended December 31, 2014. General and administrative expenses of approximately \$3,037,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 included current period expenses of approximately \$2,435,000, depreciation and amortization expense of approximately \$167,000 for the lease value intangible asset and furniture, fixtures and equipment, and approximately \$435,000 of net non-cash compensation expense. The net non-cash compensation expense was comprised of equity awards for employees and directors of approximately \$448,000, offset by an approximate \$13,000 decrease in the liability for option cancellations due to a decrease in the market price of the Company s common stock from \$19.23 per share at December 31, 2013 to \$18.05 per share at March 31, 2014. Excluding the non-cash expenses, the net increase in general and administrative expenses of \$258,000 was primarily the result of increases for professional fees.

Interest expense of \$28,000 for both the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, was comprised of unused facility fees and deferred financing cost amortization on the Company s revolving credit facility, which we refer to as the Revolver. There was no outstanding balance on the Revolver during the three months ended March 31, 2015 or 2014.

Income tax expense of \$794,000 for continuing operations during the three months ended March 31, 2015 reflected deferred Federal tax expense of \$662,000, deferred state and local tax expense of \$92,000 and \$40,000 of current Federal AMT. Income tax expense of \$605,000 for continuing operations during the three months ended March 31, 2014 reflected deferred Federal tax expense of \$569,000 and deferred state and local tax expense of \$36,000.

The loss from discontinued operations was \$71,000 and \$378,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The losses in the 2015 and 2014 periods primarily reflected legal and professional fees of \$118,000 and \$613,000, respectively, in connection with our recovery efforts (related to the 2012 Gold Peak

settlement of \$17,000,000), offset by income tax benefits of \$47,000 and \$235,000, respectively.

Income Taxes

During March 2014, New York State enacted a law to (1) reduce corporate tax rates, effective in future years and (2) change the method of determining the availability and use of NOLs existing at December 31, 2014. As a consequence, the Company evaluated all elements affecting the balance of its net deferred tax assets, including the availability of New York State and New York City NOL carryforwards and the changes in the New York State law which were reflected in the first quarter of 2014 income tax expense.

In January 2015, New York City proposed that it would change its tax laws to substantially conform with the New York State changes. The New York City law was enacted on April 13, 2015. The Company will assess and report the impact of the changes in the New York City law in the second quarter of 2015.

Due to the amount of its NOL and credit carryforwards, the Company does not anticipate paying Federal income taxes for a number of years. The Company expects, in the future, that it will be subject to cash payments for Federal AMT and for a portion of its state and local income taxes as the changed New York State and New York City laws limit the amount of existing NOLs which could be used each year.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The net deferred tax asset was approximately \$22,106,000 and \$22,437,000 at March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, of which \$3,170,000 and \$3,798,000 is reflected as a net current asset in prepaid and other assets and \$18,936,000 and \$18,639,000 is reflected separately as a net non-current asset in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, respectively. The significant portion of the deferred tax items relates to deferred tax assets including NOL carryforwards, Federal AMT credit carryforwards and stock based compensation, with the remainder of the deferred tax items relating to liabilities resulting from the intangible assets recorded at the time of the Merger.

The Company had Federal NOL carryforwards aggregating approximately \$61,165,000 at December 31, 2014, as well as significant state and local NOL carryforwards. These NOLs included NOLs generated subsequent to the Merger (including a substantial NOL realized during the year ended December 31, 2012 as a result of the Gold Peak litigation settlement, discussed in Note 11 to the Company s consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this Form 10-Q), losses from the Reis Services business prior to the Merger and the Company s operating losses prior to the Merger. Approximately \$20,317,000 of these Federal NOLs are subject to an annual limitation, whereas the remaining balance of approximately \$40,848,000 is not subject to such a limitation. There is an annual limitation on the use of NOLs after an ownership change, pursuant to Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. As a result of the Merger, the Company experienced such an ownership change which resulted in a new annual limitation of \$2,779,000. Because of the accumulation of annual limitations, it is expected that the use of NOLs will not be limited by expirations. The 2014 New York State law and the 2015 New York City law discussed above limit the amount of existing NOLs which could be used each year in those jurisdictions; however, all such losses are expected to be fully utilized in the future.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The core Reis Services business has traditionally generated significant cash annually; and we expect it to continue to do so. Our consolidated cash and cash equivalents balance aggregated approximately \$21,366,000 at March 31, 2015, an increase of \$3,621,000 over the December 31, 2014 balance of approximately \$17,745,000. This 20.4% increase was achieved while meeting all of the Company s operational costs and obligations, making investments in its websites and databases of approximately \$1,082,000, paying an aggregate dividend of approximately \$1,582,000 in the first quarter of 2015 and utilizing approximately \$993,000 to settle minimum employee withholding tax obligations on vested RSUs in February 2015.

At March 31, 2015, the Company s short-term and long-term liquidity requirements include: current operating and capitalizable costs, including accounts payable and other accrued expenses; near-term product development and enhancement of the website and databases either through building with Company resources or through acquisitions; operating leases; growth in operating expenses from a further increase in the number of Reis employees and additional resources being devoted to our sales and marketing efforts; insurance deductibles and legal costs related to discontinued operations; other costs, including public company expenses not included in the Reis Services segment; the resolution of open tax years with state and local tax authorities; payment of employee taxes on vested equity awards, for which the employee uses shares to settle his/her minimum withholding tax obligations with the Company; and the use of cash for the payment of quarterly dividends. The Company expects to meet these short-term and long-term liquidity requirements generally through the use of available cash and cash generated from subscription revenue of Reis Services and, if necessary, with borrowings under the Revolver or a replacement facility, and/or

proceeds from the sale of Reis stock. During 2015, the Company may consider, based on market conditions and business needs, refinancing or otherwise amending or replacing the Revolver, though there can be no assurance we will do so, or be able to do so on terms acceptable to us. There could be additional cash inflows from insurance recoveries, or from other potentially responsible parties, related to the Gold Peak litigation; however, there can be no assurance that the Company will recover any additional amounts in the short or long-term. The Company has NOLs that it expects to be able to use over many years against future Federal, state and local taxable income, if any. Tax payments related to 2015 are expected to be for alternate state and local taxes and Federal AMT, but generally not for Federal, state or local taxes on income. In 2015 and thereafter, as a result of the new tax laws enacted in New York State in March 2014 and New York City in April 2015, the use of certain NOLs for New York State and New York City purposes will be subject to an annual limitation and, therefore, any taxes in excess of the limitation will need to be paid in those periods.

The Company may determine to use its cash to: (1) acquire or invest in other databases or information companies that have logical adjacencies or complementary products or services; (2) repurchase shares of Reis common stock; or (3) pay a special dividend, or

increase its recurring quarterly dividend. There can be no assurance that the Company will use its cash for any of these purposes during the balance of 2015 or thereafter.

Changes in Cash Flows

Cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 are summarized as follows:

	For t	the Three Mont	hs End	led March 31,
		2015		2014
Net cash provided by operating activities	\$	7,280,086	\$	6,541,054
Cash (used in) investing activities		(1,140,641)		(1,181,414)
Cash (used in) financing activities		(2,518,360)		(131,778)
-				
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	\$	3,621,085	\$	5,227,862

Net cash provided by operating activities increased \$739,000 from \$6,541,000 provided in the 2014 period to \$7,280,000 provided in the 2015 period. This increase was primarily the result of increased operating cash flow of \$438,000 from the Reis Services segment from \$8,092,000 provided in the 2014 period to \$8,530,000 provided in the 2015 period due to growth in revenue and EBITDA and the timing of accounts receivable collections.

Cash used in investing activities decreased \$40,000 from \$1,181,000 used in the 2014 period to \$1,141,000 used in the 2015 period. This change resulted from a \$45,000 decrease in purchases of furniture, fixtures and equipment in the 2015 period, offset by a \$5,000 increase of cash used in the 2015 period as compared to the 2014 period for website and database development costs for continuing product development initiatives. The expectation for 2015 is that cash used for website and database development will exceed the annual 2014 amounts.

Cash used in financing activities were \$2,518,000 and \$132,000 in the 2015 and 2014 periods, respectively. The 2015 period includes approximately \$1,582,000 for dividends declared and paid in the first quarter of 2015 and \$993,000 used to settle minimum employee withholding tax obligations on vested RSUs, offset by proceeds received from employees for option exercises of \$56,000. The 2014 period includes cash used for option cancellations of \$132,000.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements may relate to the Company s or management s outlook or expectations for earnings, revenues, expenses, margins, asset quality, or other future financial or business performance, strategies, prospects or expectations, or the impact of legal, regulatory or supervisory matters on our business, operations or performance. Specifically, forward-looking statements may include:

statements relating to future services and product development of the Reis Services segment;

statements relating to business prospects, potential acquisitions, sources and uses of cash, revenue, expenses, income (loss) from continuing or discontinued operations, cash flows, valuation of assets and liabilities and other business metrics of the Company and its businesses, including EBITDA (as defined herein), Adjusted EBITDA (as defined herein) and Aggregate Revenue Under Contract; and

statements preceded by, followed by or that include the words estimate, plan, project, intend, ex anticipate, believe, seek, target or similar expressions relating to future periods.

Forward-looking statements reflect management s judgment based on currently available information and involve a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. With respect to these forward-looking statements, management has made certain assumptions. Future performance cannot be assured. Actual results may differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements. Some factors that could cause actual results to differ include:

lower than expected revenues and other performance measures such as income from continuing operations, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA;

inability to retain and increase the Company s subscriber base;

inability to execute properly on new products and services, or failure of subscribers to accept these products and services;

competition;

inability to attract and retain sales and senior management personnel;

inability to access adequate capital to fund operations and investments in our business;

difficulties in protecting the security, confidentiality, integrity and reliability of the Company s data;

changes in accounting policies or practices;

legal and regulatory issues;

the results of pending, threatening or future litigation; and

the risk factors listed under Item 1A. Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 5, 2015.You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q. Except as required by law, the Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or release any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect any events or circumstances after the date of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

The Company s primary market risk exposure has been to changes in interest rates. This risk may be managed by limiting the Company s financing exposures, to the extent possible, by purchasing interest rate caps when deemed appropriate.

At March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Company s only potential exposure to interest rates was on variable rate based debt. This exposure has historically been minimized through the use of interest rate caps. During the three months ended March 31, 2015 and throughout 2014, the Company did not have any interest rate caps. No debt was outstanding at March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014. For more information about the Company s debt, see Note 6 to the Company s consolidated financial statements.

Reis holds cash and cash equivalents at various regional and national banking institutions. Management monitors the institutions that hold our cash and cash equivalents. Management s emphasis is primarily on safety of principal. Management, in its discretion, has diversified Reis s cash and cash equivalents among banking institutions to potentially minimize exposure to any one of these entities. To date, we have experienced no loss or lack of access to our invested cash or cash equivalents; however, we can provide no assurances that access to invested cash and cash equivalents will not be impacted by adverse conditions in the financial markets.

Cash balances held at banking institutions with which we do business generally exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance limits. While management monitors the cash balances in these bank accounts, such cash balances could be impacted if the underlying banks fail or could be subject to other adverse conditions in the financial markets.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

As of March 31, 2015, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as of March 31, 2015 were designed at a reasonable assurance level and were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC rules and forms, and to ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

There has been no change in the Company s internal control over financial reporting during the quarter covered by this report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company s internal control over financial reporting.

Part II. Other Information

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

As disclosed in Note 11 to the Company s consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this Form 10-Q, the Company is engaged in certain legal matters, and the disclosure set forth in such Note 11 is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

A wide range of risks may affect our business and financial results, now and in the future; however, we consider the risks described under Item 1A. Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, which was filed with the SEC on March 5, 2015, to be the most significant. There may be other currently unknown or unpredictable economic, business, competitive, governmental or other factors that could have material adverse effects on our business or future results. See Part I. Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements for additional information.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

During the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company did not repurchase any shares of common stock.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

None.

Item 5. Other Information.

None.

Item 6. Exhibits.

Exhibits filed with this Form 10-Q:

Exhibit

No.	Description
31.1	Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2	Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1	Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Certifications pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101	Interactive Data Files, formatted in extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL).

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

REIS, INC.

By: /s/ Mark P. Cantaluppi Mark P. Cantaluppi Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Date: April 30, 2015